THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-000651

DAVID W. KELLER,

Respondent,

v.

ING FINANCIAL PARTNERS, INC., WILLIAM C. JOHNSON,
DIVERSIFIED BUSINESS CONCEPTS, INC. and
JACKSON NATIONAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants,

Of Whom ING FINANCIAL PARTNERS, INC.,
WILLIAM C. JOHNSON and DIVERSIFIED BUSINESS
CONCEPTS, INC., are,

Petitioners.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Ashley B. Abel, Esq.
T. Chase Samples, Esq.
Jackson Lewis P.C.
15 South Main Street, Suite 700
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 232-7000
Attorneys for Petitioners

RECEIVED
RECEIVED

AUG 11 2014

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE PARTIES' ARBITRATION AGREEMENT DESIGNATED NASD AS THE EXCLUSIVE ARBITRATION FORUM?
2. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR BY HOLDING, CONTRARY TO EVERY COURT THAT HAS CONSIDERED THE ISSUE, THAT THE 2007 ASSUMPTION BY FINRA OF THE ARBITRATION PROGRAM PREVIOUSLY ADMINISTERED BY THE NASD RENDERED THE NASD UNAVAILABLE AS A FORUM FOR ARBITRATION OF THIS DISPUTE?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY HOLDING IN THE ALTERNATIVE THAT THE PARTIES' DISPUTE FELL OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a claim by an investor against a securities broker-dealer and its registered representative for allegedly recommending an unsuitable investment—the type of claim uniformly subject to arbitration before the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”). But in a decision with major implications for the securities industry, a panel of the Court of Appeals held that FINRA, which was created out of the regulatory arm of the National Association of Securities Dealers (“NASD”) in 2007, did not assume jurisdiction of disputes arising out of contracts providing for arbitration under the NASD rules. In effect, the decision below renders the NASD/FINRA merger a legal nullity in South Carolina. The Court of Appeals’ decision flies in the face of every decision to address the issue and the strong policy in favor of arbitration, and threatens to flood the courts of this State with cases that in all other States would be resolved through arbitration. For these reasons, and as explained further below, Petitioners respectfully request that the Court reverse the opinion of the Court of Appeals and order the Parties to arbitrate this dispute.

On January 18, 2011, Respondent David Keller (“Respondent” or “Keller”) filed suit in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas, asserting various state law claims against Petitioners William C. Johnson (“Johnson”), ING Financial Partners, Inc. (“IFP”), Diversified Business Concepts, Inc., (“Diversified”) and Defendant Jackson National Life Insurance Co. (“Jackson National”) arising out of Keller’s investment in a variable annuity offered by Jackson National.¹ The Complaint centers around the allegation that the variable annuity recommended by Johnson was not suited to Keller’s investment goals. On February 18, 2011, Petitioners moved to compel arbitration based on the arbitration clause contained in the IFP customer agreement. The trial court, Hon. D. Garrison Hill, heard argument on the motion on April 11, 2011.

On May 26, 2011, the trial court adopted a proposed order drafted by Keller’s counsel denying the motion to compel arbitration. In the Order, Judge Hill held that the arbitration agreement’s reference to arbitration under the “then applicable code of arbitration procedure of NASD” was equivalent to designating the NASD as the exclusive arbitration forum and that such selection was an “integral term” of the Parties’ agreement to arbitrate. (R. at 5.) The Court concluded that “[b]ecause the arbitration forum specifically selected by the parties to the purported arbitration agreement does not exist . . . a material term of the arbitration clause has failed, and the purported agreement to arbitrate must likewise fail.” (R. at 4.) On June 16, 2011, Petitioners served and filed a Notice of Appeal from this Order.

The Court of Appeals issued its opinion on January 9, 2013, affirming the trial court. In a summary, *per curiam*, decision, the Court of Appeals concluded that “[t]he

¹ Jackson National is not a party to the arbitration agreement and did not move to compel arbitration. It is not a Petitioner here.

parties' arbitration agreement designates an exclusive arbitral forum that is no longer available to arbitrate." *Keller v. ING Financial Partners, Inc.*, Unpublished Opinion No. 2013-UP-014, 2013 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 5 (S.C. Ct. App. Jan. 9, 2013). The Court of Appeals concluded that it "cannot rewrite the parties' agreement to substitute FINRA for NASD." *Id.* The Court also refused to apply Section 5 of the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") to substitute an arbitrator because, according to the Court, this case did not present a "breakdown in the process of selecting an arbitrator." *Id.* The Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing on March 12, 2013, and this Court granted Petitioners' Petition for Certiorari on July 10, 2014.

FACTS

IFP is a securities broker-dealer for which, during the time period at issue, Johnson (through his company, Diversified) served as a registered representative pursuant to the securities laws and FINRA rules. (R. at 16-17.) On September 12, 2007, in consultation with Johnson, Keller purchased a variable annuity issued by Jackson National. (R. at 19.) This transaction was governed by a standard IFP account agreement containing a mandatory arbitration clause. (R. at 89-90.)

That clause provides:

18. Arbitration Clause. THIS AGREEMENT CONTAINS A PREDISPUTE ARBITRATION CLAUSE. BY SIGNING AN ARBITRATION AGREEMENT THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

(A) ALL PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT ARE GIVING UP THE RIGHT TO SUE EACH OTHER IN COURT, INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED BY THE RULES OF THE ARBITRATION FORUM IN WHICH A CLAIM IS FILED.

(B) ARBITRATION AWARDS ARE GENERALLY FINAL AND BINDING; A PARTY'S ABILITY TO HAVE A COURT REVERSE OR MODIFY AN ARBITRATION AWARD IS VERY LIMITED.

(C) THE ABILITY OF THE PARTIES TO OBTAIN DOCUMENTS, WITNESS STATEMENTS AND OTHER DISCOVERY IS GENERALLY MORE LIMITED IN ARBITRATION THAN IN COURT PROCEEDINGS.

(D) THE ARBITRATORS DO NOT HAVE TO EXPLAIN THE REASON(S) FOR THEIR AWARD.

(E) THE PANEL OF ARBITRATORS WILL TYPICALLY INCLUDE A MINORITY OF ARBITRATORS WHO WERE OR ARE AFFILIATED WITH THE SECURITIES INDUSTRY.

(F) THE RULES OF SOME ARBITRATION FORUMS MAY IMPOSE TIME LIMITS FOR BRINGING A CLAIM IN ARBITRATION. IN SOME CASES, A CLAIM THAT IS INELIGIBLE FOR ARBITRATION MAY BE BROUGHT IN COURT.

(G) THE RULES OF THE ARBITRATION FORUM IN WHICH THE CLAIM IS FILED, AND ANY AMENDMENTS THERETO, SHALL BE INCORPORATED INTO THIS AGREEMENT.

I AGREE THAT ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN YOU AND ME ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO ARBITRATION CONDUCTED UNDER THE THEN APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF THE CODE OF ARBITRATION PROCEDURE OF NASD. ARBITRATION MUST BE COMMENCED WITHIN THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS. THE ARBITRATION AWARD SHALL BE FINAL AND JUDGMENT MAY BE ENTERED ON THE AWARD IN ANY COURT, STATE OR FEDERAL, HAVING JURISDICTION.

(R. at 64.)

After Johnson and Keller executed the arbitration agreement at issue, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) designated a new self-regulatory organization, FINRA,² to assume control of the NASD arbitration program. See FINRA,

² FINRA is a self-regulatory organization (“SRO”) registered with the SEC as a national securities association. *Fiero v. Financial Indus. Regulatory Auth., Inc.*, 606 F. Supp. 2d 500, 504 (S.D.N.Y. 2009). FINRA is “responsible for regulatory oversight of all securities firms that do business with the public; professional training, testing and licensing of registered persons; [and] arbitration and mediation.” *Sacks v. SEC*, 635 F.3d 1121, 1122 (9th Cir. 2011) (citation omitted). Pursuant to SEC regulations, licensed

About the Financial Regulatory Authority, <http://www.finra.org/AboutFINRA/> (last visited July 31, 2014) (explaining FINRA history); Securities and Exchange Commission, Press Release 2007-151, July 26, 2007, “SEC Gives Regulatory Approval for NASD and NYSE Consolidation,” <http://www.sec.gov/news/press/2007/2007-151.htm> (last visited July 31, 2014) (describing merger of NASD and NYSE Regulation, Inc.). Created in July 2007 via a consolidation of the NASD and certain enforcement and arbitration functions of the NYSE (Trial Court’s May 26, 2011 Order at 2; R. 4.), FINRA’s arbitration program is a continuation of the former programs administered by those two self-regulatory organizations. FINRA’s rules, which became effective December 15, 2008, incorporated the NASD’s Code of Arbitration Procedure for Customer Disputes which applies to all claims filed on or after April 16, 2007. *See* Order Approving FINRA Regulatory Notice 08-57, SEC Approves New Consolidated FINRA Rules, 2008 WL 4685588 (Oct. 16, 2008); FINRA, Code of Arbitration Procedure, <http://www.finra.org/ArbitrationMediation/Rules/CodeOfArbitrationProcedure/>, (last visited August 8, 2014.) FINRA administers thousands of arbitrations annually based on claims identical to those at issue in this case. (Memo in Supp. of Mot. to Compel Arbitration, pp. 9-10; R. pp. 57-58.)

ARGUMENT

This case involves the interpretation and enforceability of an arbitration agreement subject to the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”), which provides that arbitration agreements are enforceable “save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the

securities brokers and dealers must register with and abide by FINRA’s guidelines. *See* 17 C.F.R. § 240.15b7–1 (2009). IFP is a broker-dealer member of FINRA, and Johnson is a FINRA registered representative.

revocation of any contract.” 9 U.S.C. § 2. As this Court has held: “General contract principles of state law apply to arbitration clauses governed by the FAA.” *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539 (2001). The Court of Appeals therefore determined the enforceability of the Parties’ arbitration agreement as a matter of South Carolina law.³

“[D]etermination whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to *de novo* review.” *Partain v. Upstate Auto. Group*, 386 S.C. 488, 491, 689 S.E.2d 602, 603 (2010). “The party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, Op. No. 27401, 2014 S.C. LEXIS 192 at *6 (S.C. June 18, 2014) (quoting *Green Tree Fin. Corp. v. Ala. v. Randolph*, 531 U.S. 79, 91 (2000)).

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT ARBITRATION AGREEMENT DESIGNATED NASD AS THE EXCLUSIVE ARBITRATION FORUM.

The lower court rulings stand on the clearly erroneous assumption that the selection of an organization’s rules for arbitration equates to the selection of that forum as the exclusive arbitration forum. The Court of Appeals held, based on a clause in the arbitration agreement referring to arbitration “conducted under the then applicable provisions of the code of arbitration procedure of NASD” that the “parties’ arbitration agreement designates an exclusive arbitral forum that is no longer available to arbitrate.” *Keller*, 2013 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 5 at *3. In the trial court, Judge Hill similarly

³ Although the agreement provides that it shall be governed by Iowa law, application of the law of South Carolina is appropriate here for two reasons. First, as the lower courts noted, Iowa law does not address the issues presented. *Keller*, 2013 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 5 at *4. Second, to the extent that Iowa did address those issues, and was inconsistent with the law of South Carolina, as a matter of public policy the choice of law clause would be unenforceable and South Carolina law would govern. *Team IA, Inc. v. Lucas*, 395 S.C. 237, 249 (S.C. Ct. App. 2011).

found that “[t]he failure of the arbitration provision’s forum selection clause constitutes the failure of an integral term of the agreement, thereby rendering the entire arbitration agreement void.” (R. at 2.) These rulings are in direct conflict with a case decided by this Court in June, which held that an arbitration agreement calling for arbitration under the rules of a particular forum *does not* render the arbitration agreement invalid even though the named forum is unavailable to arbitrate the dispute. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, Op. No. 27401, 2014 S.C. LEXIS 192 (S.C. June 18, 2014). Stated simply, the foundation of both lower court rulings has crumbled following *Dean*.

Dean involved the enforceability of an arbitration agreement between a nursing home and one of its residents. *Id.* at *2. The arbitration agreement signed by Dean stated that arbitration under the agreement “*shall follow the rules of the American Arbitration Association (‘AAA’)*” and further provided that the “arbitration proceeding shall be conducted before one neutral arbitrator selected *in accordance with the rules of the AAA.*” *Dean*, 2014 S.C. LEXIS 192 at *3 (emphasis original.) Dean argued, just as Keller did below, that the reference in the agreement to the rules of AAA meant that the parties had agreed to arbitrate exclusively with AAA, and that since AAA no longer arbitrates personal injury disputes, the arbitration agreement was unenforceable. *Id.* at *4. The lower court agreed with this argument, reasoning that “the forum selection clause is an integral part of the agreement and cannot be remedied because the forum selected by [Appellants] will not hear this type of dispute.” *Id.* at *5. This Court reversed.

This Court explained that when analyzing the enforceability of an arbitration agreement where the forum referenced in the agreement is unavailable the “primary inquiry is whether the named forum is an integral part of the arbitration agreement, or

whether it is instead an ancillary consideration.” *Id.* at *11. To make this determination, the Court distinguished between arbitration agreements that refer to an arbitration proceeding “administered by” the named forum from one requiring a proceeding conducted “in accordance with” the named forum’s rules:

More specifically, we find that the named arbitral forum is not a material term to agreements in which the parties agree to arbitrate “in accordance with” the named forum’s rules, absent other evidence to the contrary; however, as in *Grant*, when parties elect for a proceeding “administered by” a named forum, that forum should be viewed as integral to the arbitration agreement, absent other evidence to the contrary.

Id. at *13-14. In short, the Court held that the arbitration agreement was not rendered unenforceable merely because it referred to arbitration under the rules of a particular forum that was no longer available to arbitrate the dispute. *See also Brown v. Delfre*, 968 N.E.2d 696 (Ill. Ct. App. 2012) (applying same rationale as *Dean* in the context of arbitration agreement that referred to arbitration under NASD’s rules and compelling arbitration).

Here, as in *Dean*, the Parties’ arbitration agreement refers to “arbitration conducted under the then applicable provisions of the code of arbitration procedure of NASD.” (R. p. 64.) This is the only reference to NASD in the entire arbitration agreement.⁴ The reference to arbitration “conducted under” the then-applicable NASD rules is like the provision in *Dean* that arbitration be conducted “in accordance with” the named forum’s rules. *See Dean* 2014 S.C. LEXIS 192 at *13-14. Thus, *Dean* makes clear that the reference to the NASD’s rules is not the same as selecting the NASD as the

⁴ This lone reference does not amount to a forum selection clause, particularly when read in the context of the entire arbitration agreement which also refers to “arbitration forums” in the plural and refers generally to “the rules of the arbitration forum in which a claim is filed.” (R. at 64.)

exclusive arbitration forum. The Court of Appeals therefore erred by concluding that NASD, and only NASD, could serve as the forum for arbitrating this dispute.

The correct inquiry under *Dean* is whether a forum exists that will conduct the arbitration pursuant to the NASD rules, as the agreement requires. Here, FINRA is that forum. It is undisputed that FINRA assumed jurisdiction over—and continued to apply—the NASD rules. *Aslin v. Fin. Indus. Regulatory Auth., Inc.*, 704 F.3d 475, 477 n.2 (7th Cir. 2013) (“NASD refers to the National Association of Securities Dealers, a self-regulatory organization that was FINRA’s predecessor. FINRA adopted the NASD rules as its own when it was established.”); *Berthel Fisher & Co. Fin. Servs. v. Larmon*, 695 F.3d 749, 752 (8th Cir. 2012) (noting that FINRA code of arbitration procedure is successor to NASD code); *UBS Fin. Servs. v. City of Pasadena*, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 115365 at *6 n.1 (C.D. Cal. July 31, 2012) (“NASD was the predecessor to FINRA, and the former NASD rules are nearly identical to the present FINRA rules.”); *Morgan Keegan & Co. v. Louise Silverman Trust*, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3870 at *10, n.5 (D. Md. 2012) (explaining that “[t]he NASD Code of Arbitration was the predecessor to the FINRA Code and FINRA has stated that it intended no substantive change when it replaced NASD Rule 10301 with FINRA Rule 12200”); *Oppenheimerfunds Distrib. v. Liska*, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 136453 at *4-5 (S.D. Cal. Nov. 28, 2011) (“FINRA arbitrations are governed by the National Association of Securities Dealers (‘NASD’) Code of Arbitration Procedure.”); *In re H&R Block Fin. Advisors, Inc.*, 262 S.W.3d 896, 900 (Tex. App. 2008) (“Although the NASD has changed its name, FINRA continues to apply the NASD arbitration rules and procedures.”); *Morgan Stanley & Co. v. Feeley*, 2010 NY Slip Op. 30024U (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Jan. 5, 2010) (“FINRA’s arbitration forum

continued to follow the same rules followed by NASD and [the plaintiff] agreed to arbitrate in accordance with NASD's rules. . . . Accordingly, FINRA had jurisdiction over the parties and the dispute.”).

Thus, when the Parties in this case elected to arbitrate their dispute under the “then applicable code of arbitration procedure of NASD,” the Parties chose to arbitrate under what is now called the FINRA Code of Arbitration Procedure for Customer Disputes. Keller has failed to point to any material difference between the FINRA rules and the NASD rules because there is none. *See* FINRA, Code of Arbitration Procedure, <http://www.finra.org/arbitrationandmediation/arbitration/rules/codeofarbitrationprocedure/> (last visited July 31, 2014) (containing links to versions of current and former rules); Transcript p. 20; R. p. 124, lines 16-17 (“I cannot name a single change in the rules as they were and the FINRA rules as they exist today.”). It was therefore clear error for the Court of Appeals to hold that the Parties’ arbitration could not be enforced as written.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY HOLDING, CONTRARY TO EVERY COURT THAT HAS CONSIDERED THE ISSUE, THAT THE 2007 ASSUMPTION BY FINRA OF THE ARBITRATION PROGRAM PREVIOUSLY ADMINISTERED BY THE NASD RENDERED NASD UNAVAILABLE AS A FORUM FOR ARBITRATION OF THIS DISPUTE.

a. The NASD Arbitral Forum Still Exists, Although it Is Now Called FINRA.

Even if the Court of Appeals had correctly interpreted the arbitration agreement as choosing NASD as the exclusive arbitral forum, which under *Dean* it plainly did not, the Court of Appeals would have further erred by denying the motion to compel on the ground that the chosen forum is “unavailable.” The NASD forum merely changed its name to FINRA—a fact that has no bearing on the enforceability of agreements to arbitrate before NASD.

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