THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

SEP 29 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-000651

David W. Keller.....Respondent,

v.

ING Financial Business Partners, Inc., William C.
Johnson, Diversified Business Concepts,
Inc., and Jackson National Life Insurance Company.....Defendants,

Of Whom ING Financial Partners, Inc.,
William C. Johnson, and Diversified Business Concepts, Inc., are.....Petitioners.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

H. Donald Sellers, SC Bar No. 5018
J.W. Matthews III, SC Bar No. 68581
Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A.
ONE North Main, 2nd Floor (29601)

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE PURPORTED ARBITRATION AGREEMENT IS VOID BECAUSE THE PARTIES' SELECTION OF THE NASD AS THE EXCLUSIVE ARBITRATOR CONSTITUTES AN INTEGRAL TERM OF THE CONTRACT, AND THE NASD DOES NOT EXIST

This case concerns the enforceability of an arbitration clause subject to the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"). The parties' agreement provides that it shall be governed by Iowa law. (R pp. 63-64). Iowa, like South Carolina, applies general contractual principles to determine the validity of arbitration agreements governed by the FAA. See e.g., Gen. Conf. of the Evangelical Methodist Church v. Faith Evangelical Methodist Church, 809 N.W.2d 117, 122 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011); Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 364 (2001). The Court of Appeals opted to apply South Carolina law because "[n]either Iowa state nor the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals have decided whether a court may substitute an arbitral forum when a designated forum has become unavailable to arbitrate." (R. p. 207). Under South Carolina law, "determinations of arbitrability are subject to de novo review." Stokes v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 351 S.C. 606, 609, 571 S.E.2d 711, 713 (Ct. App. 2002). "However, the circuit court's factual findings will not be overruled if there is any evidence reasonably supporting them." Grant v. Magnolia Manor-Greenwood, Inc., 383 S.C. 125, 129, 678 S.E.2d 435, 437 (2009) (citing Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton, 336 S.C. 658, 664-65, 521 S.E.2d 749, 753 (Ct. App. 1999)).

Arbitration agreements are matters of contract, and general contract law governs the evaluation of the enforceability of an arbitration agreement. Grant, 383 S.C. at 130, 678 S.E.2d at 439; Smith Barney, Inc. v. Keeney, 570 N.W.2d 75, 78 (Iowa 1997). As such, a valid arbitration agreement requires the parties' "mutual assent to the terms."

Schaer v. Webster Cnty., 644 N.W.2d 327, 338 (Iowa 2002). The contract, including the agreement to arbitrate, “is to be interpreted as a whole, and it is assumed in the first instance that no part of it is superfluous.” Keeney, 570 N.W.2d at 78. “Before compelling a party to arbitrate pursuant to the FAA, a court must determine that there is an agreement to arbitrate and the dispute at issue falls within the scope of the agreement.” Century Indem. Co. v. Certain Underwriters at Lloyd’s, 584 F.3d 513, 523 (3d Cir. 2009).

A. Enforceability of the Agreement Depends Upon NASD Overseeing the Arbitration

The Court of Appeals correctly found that the parties chose NASD as the exclusive forum to arbitrate disputes, and that the selection was a vital part of the agreement. Also, the Court of Appeals correctly refrained from inserting a different arbitral forum into the arbitration agreement. Since Petitioners’ contract form expressly required “arbitration conducted under the then applicable provisions of the code of arbitration procedure of NASD,” (R. p. 64), the NASD became the exclusive arbitral body. NASD Rule 10314(a)(1)-(2) explains that any arbitration proceeding instituted under the NASD’s code of arbitration procedure must begin with a claimant filing “with the [NASD’s] Director of Arbitration an executed Submission Agreement, a Statement of Claim of the controversy in dispute, together with the documents in support of the Claim, and the [NASD] required deposit.”

This Court’s opinions in Grant v. Magnolia Manor-Greenwood, 383 S.C. 125, 678 S.E.2d 435 (2009) and Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 759 S.E.2d 727 (2014) control the determination of whether a named arbitrator is an integral or ancillary logistical concern. Where a material, integral part of an arbitration agreement fails, the entire agreement to arbitrate is void. See Dean, 408 S.C. at 382, 759

S.E.2d at 733 (noting that the primary inquiry in determining the validity of such an agreement is whether the forum is an integral part of the agreement); Grant, 383 S.C. at 132, 678 S.E.2d at 439 (failure of selected arbitral forum warrants invalidation of entire arbitration clause).

In Grant, a health care industry arbitration group was found to be integral to the agreement because that arbitral body, which subsequently became unavailable, did not permit the parties to vary the terms of the arbitration rules. Grant, 383 S.C. at 132, 678 S.E.2d at 439. Thus, the designation of that specific body “had implications that may substantially affect the substantive outcome of the resolution.” Id. Like the health care association arbitral body in Grant, the NASD rules controlled the selection of arbitrators (NASD Rule 10308), rules of communication (NASD Rule 10334), service (NASD Rule 10314(b)(1)), counting of days (NASD Rule 10335(a)(4)), and administration of the dispute (NASD Rule 10100), all of which have implications substantially affecting the substantive outcome of the Respondent’s claim.

In Dean, this Court re-affirmed its decision in Grant while outlining some new rules for determining whether the named forum is integral to enforceability of the agreement. See Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 382-87, 759 S.E.2d 727, 733-36 (2014). Specifically, the Court noted that the decision to arbitrate according to the rules of a specific forum is fundamentally different when the chosen forum is a SRO specializing in securities disputes (such as the NASD). See id. at 386 n.12, 759 S.E.2d at 735. When parties elect to arbitrate in accordance with the rules of a specific SRO, enforceability of the agreement is dependent on that specific SRO overseeing the arbitration. See id. (“Unlike the SROs, arbitration ‘in accordance with the

applicable rules of the AAA' is not dependent on the AAA overseeing the arbitration.”). Here, the parties chosen forum, NASD, was a SRO with a history that specialized in arbitrating complex securities disputes. Thus, the enforceability of the arbitration clause rests upon NASD being able to arbitrate the dispute. Since NASD did not exist at the time of the filing of Petitioner’s Motion, or for that matter, at the time of contracting, the agreement is void.

The Fourth Circuit, along with other jurisdictions, agree with South Carolina when it comes to SRO’s in the securities industry. See, e.g., Smith Barney, Inc. v. Critical Health Sys. Of N.C., 212 F.3d 858, 861-62 (4th Cir. 2000) (refusing to allow arbitration in front of the AAA when the parties chose to arbitrate according to the rules of a SRO in the securities industry; In re Salomon, Inc., 68 F.3d 554, 561 (2d Cir. 1995) (refusing to substitute a new arbitral forum when parties agreed to arbitrate according to the rules of the NYSE); Roney & Co. v. Goren, 875 F.2d 1218, 1219 (6th Cir. 1989) (refusing to substitute the NASD for NYSE); Luckie v. Smith Barney, 999 F.2d 509, 514-15 (11th Cir. 1993) (refusing to allow arbitration before the AAA when the parties agreed to arbitrate according the rules of a SRO in the securities industry); Merrill Lynch v. Georgiadis, 903 F.2d 109, 112 (2d. Cir. 1990) (refusing to substitute the AAA for one of the securities SRO’s).

In In re Salomon Inc., 68 F.3d 554, 561 (2d Cir. 1995), the parties agreed to arbitrate any dispute pursuant to “the arbitration procedure prescribed in the Constitution and rules then obtaining of the NYSE.” Id. at 558. The Second Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court’s refusal to substitute an alternate arbitrator after the NYSE’s arbitration group declined to hear the dispute. Id. at 561. The court explicitly rejected the

appellants' contention that "arbitration need not take place before the NYSE...so long as the NYSE's rules govern in a proceeding brought before whichever arbitral body hears the dispute." Id. at 558. In so holding, the court held that when "it is clear that the failed [forum selection] term is not an ancillary logistical concern, but rather is as important a consideration as the agreement to arbitrate itself, a court will not sever the failed term from the rest of the agreement and the entire arbitration provision will fail." Id. at 561 (internal citations omitted). Consequently, the Second Circuit determined that the selection of the NYSE was an integral term, and affirmed the lower court's refusal to appoint substitute arbitrators. Id.

Likewise, in Roney & Co. v. Goren, 875 F.2d 1218 (6th Cir. 1989), the Sixth Circuit affirmed the district court's decision to bar the appellant from submitting her claim to arbitration before the NASD. Id. at 1219. The Court premised its decision on a pre-dispute arbitration provision executed by the parties stating that all disputes would be submitted to arbitration "under the provisions of the Constitution and Rules of the Board of Governors of the New York Stock Exchange." Id. In reaching its decision, the court opined that "[a] forum selection clause in an arbitration agreement, just like any other contract provision, is entitled to complete enforcement absent evidence that the contract was procured through fraud or excessive economic power." Id. at 1223. The parties selected the NSYE, the selection of the NYSE was an integral term of the agreement to arbitrate, and the NYSE therefore constituted the sole arbitration forum before which the parties could arbitrate. See Id.

B. Petitioner's Primary Contention that Dean Mandates Reversal is Clearly Erroneous

Petitioner's principal argument in this appeal that this Court's decision in Dean mandates overturning the Court of Appeal's decision is incorrect for at least two distinct reasons. First, the present dispute concerns a SRO and federal securities law which, as this Court was careful to point out, compels a different outcome from Dean. Second, the bright-line distinction in Dean is inapplicable here because this clause did not use the words "administered by" or "in accordance with."

In Dean, this Court distinguished agreements requiring a proceeding "administered by" a specific forum from those requiring a proceeding conducted "in accordance with" a named forum. Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 384, 759 S.E.2d 727, 734 (2014). But, the arbitration clause at issue here used neither phrase. The parties agreed that "any dispute between [them] arising out of this agreement shall be submitted to arbitration *conducted under the then applicable provisions of the code of arbitration procedure of NASD.*" (R. p. 64). Thus, the Court should look to other evidence to determine whether the named arbitral forum is material to the agreement. Namely, as discussed herein, the Court should look to the parties' decision to select NASD, rather than focusing on the wording of the agreement. At the very least, the clause is ambiguous, and because Petitioners drafted the agreement, the contract should be construed against them. See McGill v. Moore, 381 S.C. 179, 186, 672 S.E.2d 571, 575 ("[A]ny ambiguity will be construed in favor of ... the non-drafting party."); Iowa Fuel & Minerals, Inc. v. Iowa State Bd. of Regents, 471 N.W.2d 859, 863 (Iowa 1991) ("[W]hen there are ambiguities in a contract, they are strictly construed against the drafter.").

Moreover, a detailed analysis of the precise language of the agreement is unnecessary because the distinction drawn in Dean does not apply to cases involving federal securities laws. The Court stated that the analysis is fundamentally different, and the outcome opposite, when a SRO specializing in securities law is involved. Dean, 408 S.C. at 386 n.12, 759 S.E.2d at 735.

The plaintiff in Dean based her argument upon Smith Barney and In Re Salomon, which involved federal securities law. Id. However, the Dean case involved personal injury. See id. If the dispute involved securities law rather than personal injury, the Court indicated the result would be different. See id. The Court stated that cases such as Smith Barney and In Re Salomon “involve federal securities law and the decision to arbitrate before a self-regulatory organization (SRO), a forum which must operate in strict compliance with the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (SEC)[.]” Id. The Court reasoned:

In contrast to the SROs, which are closely governed by the Securities and Exchange Commission and have developed complex regulatory schemes for overseeing arbitration of securities disputes, the AAA simply provides a list of potential arbitrators from which the parties can choose, as well as procedural rules for conducting the arbitration, and coordinates the logistics of setting up the parties with the chosen arbitrator Unlike the SROs, arbitration ‘in accordance with the applicable rules of the AAA’ is not dependent on the AAA overseeing the arbitration.

Id.

Like the parties in Smith Barney and In Re Salomon, the parties in this case selected a particular arbitration forum and process capable of and experienced in handling complex, industry specific disputes. The parties selected NASD. The parties selected the NASD due to its status, expertise, prior history and experience in handling the type of disputes contemplated in the arbitration clause. Thus, an analysis of the precise language

of the agreement that this Court undertook in Dean is unnecessary. The validity of the arbitration clause was dependent upon the NASD overseeing the arbitration, and the NASD cannot do that. For that reason alone, Respondent asks this Court to affirm the Court of Appeals ruling.

C. FINRA is Not the Same as NASD

Petitioners assert that FINRA “is merely the new name for the organization formerly known as NASD.” (Pet’rs’ Br. p. 10). Therefore, Petitioners argue that FINRA can be used as a substitute forum. Under this argument, Petitioners are essentially resting upon the claim that this fundamental change in the regulatory oversight by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) was non-substantive and merely cosmetic. However, this position is contrary to both FINRA’s own view at the time of its creation, and the changes that have taken place in the years since.

FINRA commenced operations on July 30, 2007, and was created through the consolidation of the NASD and the member regulation, enforcement and arbitration operations of the New York Stock Exchange. See Press Release, FINRA, NASD and NYSE Member Regulation Combine to Form the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (July 30, 2007), www.finra.org/Newsroom/NewsReleases/2007/p036329. The SEC recognized that FINRA would be more than a mere name change, stating in SEC Release No. 34-56145 (July 26, 2007), which approved the transaction to create FINRA, that FINRA will be a “New [self-regulatory organization]” responsible for “arbitration and mediation,” inter alia. Id. (emphasis added). Further, at the time of its creation, then FINRA Chief Executive Officer Mary Schapiro identified the policy behind FINRA: “The creation of FINRA is the most significant modernization of the self-regulatory

regime in decades[.]” See Press Release, FINRA, NASD and NYSE Member Regulation Combine to Form the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (July 30, 2007), www.finra.org/Newsroom/NewsReleases/2007/p036329 (quoting Schapiro).

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